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COUNCIL OF ELDERS

Standing left -right: 1: Geoffrey Kihara   |   2: Dennis Cheruiyot  |   3:  Pius Kokomu   |   4: Rev. Elias Githuka   |   5: Rev. Ken Kimiywe    

Seated right - left: 6: Teresia Biu   |   7: Don Odera   |   8: Rev. (Dr) David Oginde   |   9: John Migiro   |   10: Marcellina M’Mwirichia
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Standing left -right: 1: George Asoyo   |   2: Martin Kiogora   |   3:  Catherine Wahome   |   4: Selvaraj Chelliah   |   5: Elizabeth Oyombe   |   

6:  Paul Mbugua   |   7: Catherine Lengewa   |   8: Martin Munyu   |   9: Chiristine Ojera   |   10:  Andrew Musyoka

Seated right - left: 11 Rev. Elias Githuka   |   12: Caroline Wambugu   |   13: Rev. (Dr) David Oginde   |   14: Dr. Faith M. Thuita   |   15: Rev. Ken Kimiywe 
Not in the group photo: Neslson Kuria
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If God 
is your 
partner, 
make your 
plans BIG!

“

D.L. Moody
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Positioned for Impact

Introduction

The year 2018 began on a 
not very positive note. Due to 
the tempestuous elections of 
the previous year, the nation 
was gripped in anxiety and 
tension that was obvious 
even in our congregations. 
However, the Christian fraternity 
took opportunity to earnestly 
intercede for our country and for 
peace to prevail. We thank God 
because He heard our prayers 
and granted us peace when our 
political leaders made a deliberate 
choice to embrace peace. This 
opened doors for ministry and 
service in line with our theme for 
the year – Positioned for Impact 
(Acts 1:8, Isaiah 61). We share a 
few highlights.

Impact through Prayer

It is said that desperate times 
call for desperate measures. 
Considering where the nation 
was at, and the place of CITAM 
as a ministry, we embarked 
on forty days of prayer and 

CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

David Oginde (PhD.), Rev 

Presiding Bishop

fasting to intercede for the 
nation, the church, family and 
for individuals. It was the only 
way for positioning ourselves 
for impact. We thank God for 
an overwhelming response 
from our members. They not 
only took time for individual 
and corporate times of prayers 
at their assemblies, but also 
turned out in thousands at the 
solemn assembly at Valley Road 
to end the season. The impact 
of this was evident not only in 
the breakthroughs experienced 
by various individuals, but also 
in the growth in the discipline of 
prayer and greater commitment 
to ministry at our assemblies. 

Impacting the Children 

We praise God because in 2018, 
the CITAM Daily Vacation Bible 
School (DVBS) saw an unusually 
large turnout of children, with 
over 30,000 children being 
ministered to. Focusing on the 
power of the Holy Spirit, the 
children were taken through 

such topics as: Empowered to 
Serve, Empowered for Victorious 
Christian living, Empowered 
for Righteous Living, and 
Positioned for Witness. As 
a result, over 3,500 children 
committed their lives to Christ 
in salvation. Furthermore, all 
CITAM assemblies held HOPES 
Camps for KCPE candidates 
after their examinations. It was 
an opportunity to prepare them 
for teenage life through practical 
lessons from God’s word.

Impacting the Family

A key highlight of the year was 
the CITAM Family Fest where 
families were nourished and 
equipped through practical 
Biblical teachings on family 
matters.  Many testified of being 
refreshed in their individual and 
family lives. Special thanks to 
Rev Tan Chi and family from 
the Philippines for sharing their 
life lessons with us and to Dr 
Mphaphuli from South Africa for 
challenging us on growing family 



10

ANNUAL GENERAL 
MEETING

2019

finances. And to the many other speakers who 
shaped and equipped us for impact through the 
family. 

Impact through CITAM Schools

In a true positioning for impact, CITAM schools 
registered an all-round sterling performance in the 2018 
KCPE exams. CITAM Schools Woodley had 16 of its 
candidates scoring over 400 marks, and 44 scoring 
over 350. The top candidate, Ryan Kimtai scored 449 
marks, only 4 marks away from the national best who 
obtained 453 marks. Furthermore, the school had 
a mean score of 372, hence ranked the 10th best 
school in Nairobi County.  CITAM Schools Buru Buru 
similarly registered an impressive mean score of 361.  
They had 25 candidates scoring above 350, with four 
scoring above 400 marks. CITAM Schools Kisumu 
improved significantly with a mean score of 343 from 
333 in 2017. They had 12 candidates scoring above 
350, with three scoring above 400 marks. We praise 
God for the success of our candidates and thank all 
our teachers for working hard to position our schools 
for impact in the education sector. 

Impact at the Assemblies

With much joy, we appreciate the great work done 
in our assemblies where many lives were impacted 
for Christ. An unusual number of conversions were 

reported from most of our Assemblies. We especially 
thank God for the impact of the Safari discipleship 
program. Many have testified of personal growth and 
transformation in their walk with God. Furthermore, 
there were several testimonies of God’s work in the 
lives of many individuals and families through the 
pulpit and other ministry forums in every assembly. 
Many of these highlights are outlined in the specific 
Assembly reports included here.

Impact through Special Projects

In an effort to be good stewards of God’s resources 
bestowed to us, CITAM runs several special 
projects and programs that are geared towards 
ministering to the whole person. These projects 
also generate extra revenue for the ministry. In 
this regard, CITAM Kadolta Resort was officially 
launched in September of 2018.

The ultra-modern resort is a rest haven offering 
world class accommodation, classic conference 
facilities, restaurant, swimming pool, camping and 
team building facilities within scenic beauty. We 
encourage our members to take advantage of this 
facility for their family, organization, and company 
retreats and conferencing. CITAM Outfitters has 
equally curved a niche in the uniforms and clothing 
market. Launched just over a year ago, the unit 
has supplied our children with quality uniforms that 
are pocket friendly to our parents. The unit also 
produces other branded textile products. 

Impact on National Issues

In CITAM, we believe that in the prosperity of the 
nation lies our prosperity. We therefore not only pray, 
but also deliberately engage in various activities 
to ensure the peace and prosperity of the nation. 
During the post-election stalemate, the Presiding 
Bishop was part of a small group of nine drawn 
from the diplomatic, business and religious sectors, 
that worked hard in drawn-out shuttle diplomacy to 
broker reconciliation between the Opposition and 
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Jubilee Party. We give glory to God that eventually 
these efforts bore fruit resulting in peace in the nation.

Meanwhile, the CITAM Social Action, Advocacy 
and Governance (SAAG) Ministry hosted the 
inaugural Lawyers’ Forum where over 100 lawyers 
from across CITAM assemblies came together 
to deliberate on their critical role on national 
governance issues. In a separate forum, the health 
professionals also met to explore health related 
issues affecting the nation such as abortion and 
other family matters. We thank Rev John Wesley 
Nguuh, the Senior Pastor in charge of SAAG, for 
leading these initiatives and attending various 
national forums and media houses to articulate our 
biblical perspective on national issues. 

In Nakuru, CITAM Nakuru successfully 
implemented an emergency intervention project 
following the Solai Dam tragedy in May 2018. The 
project comprised three main phases: relief food 
assistance, construction of toilet facilities, and 
trauma counseling. The assistance went a long 
way in relieving the pain and loss of victims of the 
Solai tragedy. Interestingly, of the 32 organizations 
involved in supporting the victims, CITAM was 
recognized as the second, after Safaricom, in 
contributing to the needs of the victims.

In other efforts, various of our Assemblies organized 
Prayer Breakfasts and Leadership Training 
Summits for County Leaders in their areas. 
Such initiatives were successfully hosted by 
CITAM Eldoret, Kapsabet, Kisumu, and Nakuru. 
The County Governments expressed great 
appreciation for these training and collaborative 
events.

Our Missions office continued to reach out to the 
underprivileged communities with the compassion 
of Christ. The church distributed relief food worth 
millions of shillings in the drought stricken areas 
of the country. We also supported over fifty 
organizations engaged in various critical ministries 
that we are not able to cover.

Impact in the Digital Space

Through digital migration, the world has 
inadvertently shifted to the cyberspace. If we are 
to impact today’s generation we must join them 
where they literally live – online. At the last AGM 
we officially launched CITAM Church Online which 
has served as a valuable tool to amplify the gospel 
message across multiple social media platforms. 
This cyber Church has reached over 23 million 
people in 48 nations in just one year. We invite you 
to engage with us on the CITAM Church Online 
platforms – YouTube channel, Facebook, Twitter 
and Instagram Pages – and be part of God’s move 
in the digital space.

Impact through Strengthened Structures

Recognizing the continued favor of God and 
resultant growth, the members agreed at the 
2017 SGM that CITAM should adopt a regional 
structure. This has led to the structuring of the 
ministry into three geographical regions – Western, 
Northern, and Southern Regions – to be headed 
by Regional Overseers. This further necessitates 
the restructuring of our governance system to 
keep in tandem with the growth. Accordingly, 
to ensure the effective engagement of all our 
members in decision making, there is a definite 
need to bring decision making forums such as the 
Annual General Meeting (AGM) to the regions. The 
proposal is therefore to introduce Regional Annual 
General Meetings (RAGM) and a National Delegates 
Conference (NDC) as key decision making forums 
for our members. It is hoped that this will position 
us for greater impact in the years to come. 

Looking Back to Impact the Future

In 2019, we celebrate 60 years of God’s faithfulness 
and breakthrough since the ministry began. As we 
look back, it is our strong belief that our past as 
well as our future success is purely an act of God’s 
favor. Thus, as we celebrate sixty years, we are 
upbeat about what God is yet to do in the days 
ahead. That is why we have anchored ourselves in 
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the theme, “Not by might, nor by power but by 
the Spirit of God,” (Zechariah 4:6).  Through the 
year, we will take time to:

a. Reflect on God’s faithfulness from 1959 to 2019.

b. Retell the lessons we have learnt over the years as 
we hand over the baton to succeeding generations 
after us.

c. Re-examine our history as we crystallize our 
success stories and learnings for posterity.

d. Refine our operations in light of the growth God 
has brought our way.

e. Recast our vision to the Counties and Nations of 
the world.

f. Redouble our efforts in fulfilling the Great 
Commission through Evangelism and Church 
planting.

g. Rededicate ourselves to the Lord as we embark in 
the next phase of ministry.

Greater Impact at Sixty

Over the years, we have been inundated with calls to 
take CITAM to different parts of Nairobi and to other 
towns in Kenya. While the spirit is willing, the pocket 
has proved to be weak. However, as we celebrate 60 
years (Six Decades), we want to appreciate God for 
His faithfulness by planting at least six churches (one 
for each decade) in 2019. This is a major leap, but we 
have faith that it can be done – not by might, nor by 
power but by the Spirit of God. As D.L. Moody put it, “If 
God is your partner, make your plans BIG!” Likewise, 
Chuck Swindoll declares, “We are all faced with a series 
of great opportunities brilliantly disguised as impossible 
situations.” Let us trust God for great success.

Celebrating Champions of Impact

It never ceases to amaze how our Members, 
Volunteer Workers, Leaders, Pastors and Staff 
have over the years consistently and sacrificially 
positioned themselves for impact through this 
ministry. We want to sincerely thank every one of 
you for your devout prayers, dedicated service, and 

cheerful giving. You are our champions of impact. 
You have given CITAM a name and made CITAM a 
brand. May the Lord open the windows of heaven 
and pour upon each one of you His abundant 
blessings.

We single out the sacrificial and tireless work by 
our Trustees, Elders, Deacons, Staff, and Ministry 
Workers. God’s grace be upon you. We also 
take this opportunity to especially express deep 
gratitude to our outgoing Deputy Bishop Rev Ken 
Kimiywe who has been a great right hand man 
in the ministry. You have worked hard and been 
a blessing to many. As you proceed on to a well 
deserved Sabbatical leave, we pray for God’s 
special blessing upon you and your family. May you 
be refreshed just as you have refreshed others. At 
the same time, we welcome Rev Dr John Karita 
as the incoming Deputy Bishop. Great work awaits 
you, but we know you are equal to the task. Finally, 
may I thank my dear wife, Nancy, and our children 
Joyce and Chris for their continued support and 
encouragement. 

We give glory, honour, and praise to the Almighty 
God for all that He has done among us. As we look 
to the future, we must not be afraid of anything or 
anyone. Instead, each one of us must stand firm. 
Let nothing move you. Always give yourselves fully 
to the work of the Lord, because you know that 
your labour in the Lord is not in vain. (1 Cor. 15:58) 

Greater things are yet ahead of us, and we will 
accomplish them not by our might, nor by power 
but by the Spirit of God. Amen!

Let us 
trust God 
for great 
Success

“
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CHURCH SECRETARY’S  REPORT

Introduction

2018 was a great year with the 
theme, Positioned for Impact 
(Acts 1.8) guiding us to be 
proactive by having meaningful 
impact in all our areas of 
influence. This report gives 
an overview of key ministry 
highlights particularly on issues 
of Policy, Governance and 
Administration. We praise God 
for His mercies and favour 
over our country because of 
the peace and calmness we 
witnessed in 2018 after coming 
out from a very tense and 
tempestuous election in the 
previous year. Only God could 
have orchestrated the move 
within the political realm that led 
to the peace and calm that we 
continue to enjoy. Indeed, He is 
a God who hears and answers 
from heaven when we call upon 
his name (Ps 20.6).

CITAM continues to grow 
and reach out to many for 
Christ through effective and 

life transforming ministry. The 
Deacon Board throughout the 
year steered the ministry by 
providing direction and counsel 
as required. Board members 
were always willing and available 
when called upon to attend   
meetings, some of which went 
for long hours. May the Lord 
richly bless each one of them 
for their selfless and dedicated 
service to the Lord. The CITAM 
Leadership Forum that brings 
together the Deacon Board, 
Elders Council s and Senior 
Pastors met 3 times for prayer, 
fellowship and consultation on a 
broad range of issues relating to 
the ministry and governance. 

Deacon Board Meetings

During the year, the Deacon 
Board held 9 meetings as 
scheduled, including a number 
of special meetings as need 
arose. Besides, there were 
numerous board sub-committee 
meetings to deliberate on key 
issues of the ministry. Deacon 

Board members also attended 
three CITAM Leadership Summit 
retreats that brought together 
the Deacon Board, Council of 
Elders and the Senior Pastors. 

We thank God for enabling the 
board to review and update all 
CITAM Policies in the course 
of the year under the able 
guidance of the chairman. The 
board also developed a Board 
Charter which sets out the roles, 
responsibilities and authorities 
of board members and board 
committee. The charter further 
articulates the values, goals, 
principles and governing 
structure of the deacon board. 

In line with provisions of the 
charter, an on-line system for 
evaluation of performance of 
the board members and board 
committees was established 
and comprehensive evaluation 
done at the end of term of the 
current board.

Dr. Faith M. Thuita 

Church Secretary
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Loiyangalani
Reaching out to 

Rendille, Borana, Burji, 
Samburu and Turkana

06
STATION

Kargi
Reaching out to 

Rendille, Borana, Burji, 
Samburu and Turkana 

03
STATION

Mataarba
Reaching out to 

Rendille, Borana, Burji, 
Samburu and Turkana 

05
STATION

Archer’s 
Post

Reaching out to 
Rendille, Borana, Burji, 
Samburu and Turkana 

02
STATION

Gororukesa
Reaching out to 

Rendille, Borana, Burji, 
Samburu and Turkana 

04
STATION

Olturot
Reaching out to 

Rendille, Borana, Burji, 
Samburu and Turkana

01
STATION

MISSIONS &
OUTREACH

Church Plants

Though we did 
not plant a church 
in 2018, the Board 
envisioned the planting of 
at least 6 churches in 2019 to 
celebrate God’s faithfulness to CITAM 
in the last 60 years of the ministry.  The Deacon 
board approved leasing property for CITAM Meru 
to cater for expanding growth for which we thank 
God. We are thankful for donation of a prime and 
strategically located property to CITAM in Makueni 
town. May the Lord abundantly bless the family 
that gifted us this property.

Business units

The business units besides being models of 
excellence and proponents of Christian values in 
the market place also generate revenue to support 
the work of the ministry. Through the business 
committee, the deacon board provided oversight 
and support to the CITAM business units leading  
to remarkable improvement  in performance during 
the period under review. The board has remained 
steadfast in ensuring that the business units, 
despite competition from other players, remain 
afloat and register profits. 

We are 
delighted that 

we launched the 
CITAM Kadolta 

Resort on 22nd 
September 2018. It was 

a significant milestone in 
the ministry when the doors of our 

resort were officially opened in an event graced 
by the Presiding Bishop. The launch gave the 
resort good publicity which together with on-going 
marketing has led to a high season of bookings 
with a notable increase in income earned. CITAM 
Kadolta Resort, the rest haven, offers a wide variety 
of incredible resort services that include world-
class accommodation, classic conference facilities, 
restaurant, swimming pool with ambient scenery, 
camping and team building facilities. 

We encourage our members to make use of 
this facility and enjoy the excellent services. Our 
hospitality units at Parklands, Valley Road, Woodley 
and other assemblies continue to offer excellent 
catering services to the respective assemblies, 
schools and the community in the environs.   The 
CITAM Outfitters unit continues to churn out an 
assortment of creatively designed products for 
sale through various outlets in our assemblies and 
beyond.
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The 2018 KCPE results were received with jubilant 
celebrations in our CITAM schools because of the 
sterling performance. CITAM Woodley posted the 
best results ever in the history of the school with 70% 
of students scoring above 350 marks. The school 
recorded a mean score of 372 ranking it 10th best 
school in Nairobi County. Ryan Kimtai scored 449 
marks, only 4 marks away from the best candidate 
countrywide who obtained 553 marks.  We thank 
God for this sterling academic performance which 
has seen demand for admission to the school 
surge upwards in 2019. . CITAM Schools Kisumu 
had fantastic news with an improvement on the 
mean score from 333 in 2017 to 343 while CITAM 
Schools Buruburu had an impressive mean score 
of 361. We praise God for the good performance 
in our schools. 

Missions and Outreach

CITAM continued to support both local and 
international mission centers. CITAM supports 
missionaries in six local mission stations in Olturot, 
Archer’s Post, Kargi, Gororukesa, Mataarba and 
Loiyangalani reaching out to the largely unreached 
people groups of the Rendille, Borana, Burji, 
Samburu and Turkana. Beyond our national 
borders, we have missionaries in Romania, East 
Timor, USA and Namibia doing many exploits for 
God’s kingdom. We continue to trust God to enable 
us plant more mission stations. 

Through our schools, we reach out to the children 
by not only providing quality education but also 
inculcating Christian values in them. In 2018, we 
recorded significant numerical growth at Woodley, 
Ngong and Burubru Schools.  

The Hope Media, both TV and Hope FM has been 
a strategic avenue of reaching millions of people 
around the globe with the good news of the 
salvation of our Lord Jesus Christ. During the period 
under review, there were over 45 live broadcasts 

from different locations including live transmission 
of Sunday Services from various CITAM assemblies 
across the country. The HOPE creative lab and 
recording studio provided vital services in recording, 
printing, broadcast and creative design work. 

Our Children’s Centre in Kiserian has been a home 
to the poor and homeless children who have been 
provided with care, spiritual nurture and good 
education.

We are grateful for the impact made by CITAM 
Church Online, which has seen many people across 
the continents hear the gospel on their mobile 
phones, iPads and tablets. We are committed to 
be as innovative as possible so as to reach as many 
people as possible with the gospel while it is still 
day. We are confident that we are on course in our 
mission of knowing God and making Him known 
through evangelism and discipleship.

Giving - Tithes & Offerings

Your relentless commitment to paying your tithes 
and regular giving of offerings was encouraging. 
Through your generous giving, we were facilitated 
to run the affairs of the church throughout the year. 
On behalf the board, I pray that God will meet all 
your needs according to the riches of his glory in 
Christ Jesus (Philippians 4:19).  

Moving the Ark

Construction works to refurbish CITAM Kisumu 
are now completed and the modern sanctuary is 
beautiful to behold.  We praise God for His provision 
and for quality work by the construction team. We 
will soon be celebrating as we re-launch the new 
sanctuary. Furthermore, we will soon break ground 
in CITAM Thika Road, CITAM Nakuru and CITAM 
Buruburu which are the last three sanctuaries 
remaining under the Moving the ARK initiative.
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CITAM Strategic Plan - Implementation 
and Monitoring 

During the year, the Strategic Plan Oversight Team 
(SPOT) oversaw the implementation of the 2015-
2025 strategic plan on behalf of the Board through 
champions drawn from the management team. 
The team’s main mandate was to monitor the 
implementation of the specific pillars in the strategic 
plan. 

Prayer issues

a. For God’s provision to meet the ever-increasing 
demands of the ministry to reach as many people 
for Christ as possible.  

2. Finalization of sale of the Juja property to facilitate 
infrastructural development of planned projects.

3. God’s guidance to the leadership in this season 
when Rev. Ken Kimiywe will be exiting as the 
Deputy Bishop and Rev. Dr. Karita Mbagara takes 
over. We pray for the process of appointing a new 
Bishop as the current Presiding Bishop’s tenure 
comes to an end in April 2020.
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AGM

www.citam.org

MINUTES OF THE
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (AGM) 

OF CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM) 
HELD ON SATURDAY 28TH APRIL 2018 

AT CITAM VALLEYROAD.
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AGENDA

ACTIVITY RESPONSIBILITY 

1. Praise & Worship Pr. George Murichu

2. Prayer & Devotion Sr. Anna Mwaure

3. Welcome and introduction of members Ken Kimiywe
Deputy Bishop 

4. Confirmation of minutes of meeting held on 29th April 
2017 

Church Secretary

5.  Matters arising from the 29th April 2017  AGM Minutes Church Secretary

6. Confirmation of the Special General Meeting held on 
8th July 2017 

Church Secretary

7. Chairman’s report and discussion Bishop David Oginde 
(The Chairman)

8. Consideration of statement of accounts Church Treasurer

9. Appointment of the external auditor Church Treasurer

10. CITAM Governance update Church Secretary

11. Ratification of Deacons The Chairman

12. Notification of appointed Elders The Chairman

13. Appointment of Trustees The Chairman

14. Any Other Business Church Secretary

15. Launch of CITAM Church online The Chairman

16. Closing Prayer The Chairman

The list of attendance is annexed hereto as Appendix A

The meeting began at 9am with a session of praise and worship led by Pst George Murichu, CITAM 
Woodley

AGM 1/4/2018: Prayer and Devotion
Sr. Anna Mwaure, CITAM Parklands, shared the devotion drawn from Matthew 25:14-30.
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 Excerpts from the Devotion

1. Every one of us has a unique talent, profession or skill which we are expected to use for God’s 
Kingdom.  

2. God has positioned each one of us for impact in diverse and different places, occupations, and 
careers. Whether we work in Church or in the Market place, the truth is that we are all in “full time 
ministry.”

3. The theme, Positioned for Impact (drawn from Acts 1:8) reminds us that, “We shall receive 
power when the Holy Spirit comes upon us.”  If we are going to have an impact as Christians in 
this nation, we need to spend sufficient time with the Lord.  

4. God will only ask you to account for what He has given you.  He will not ask you to account for 
five talents if He gave you only two.  With her grace, poise and beauty Esther, an orphan and a 
refugee in Babylon was used by God to save the Jews from annihilation. Everyone has something 
God can use. 

5. The story of the talents is relevant to every one of us. No one should think that his or her talent is 
insignificant. The challenge we have as Christians is to use our talents and to be impactful.

AGM 2/4/2018:  Welcome and introduction of members
The Deputy Bishop, Rev. Ken Kimiywe welcomed and introduced the members present.

AGM 3/4/2018: Reading of the Notice Convening the Meeting 
After confirming the requisite quorum, the Church Secretary, Sr. Faith Thuita read the notice to convene 
the Annual General Meeting, 2018 and the agenda of the day, hereto annexed as Appendix B. 

The Secretary introduced a motion to amend the agenda, so as to include the minutes of the Special 
General Meeting (SGM) held in July 2017. The motion was proposed by Br. Bill Nyasio, CITAM Valley 
Road, and seconded by Pst. Robin Mulunda, CITAM Athi River.

AGM 4/4/2018: Confirmation of the Minutes of AGM 2017
The Secretary then read through the previous minutes and the following corrections were made:

1. Br. Geoffrey Kihara, CITAM Karen, on Min. 11/4/2017, item no. 2, commented that Sr. Mary 
Arivitsa’s contribution should read: “more involved” as opposed to “more engaged.” The 
correction was noted. 

2. Sr. Lillian Ogende, CITAM Nakuru, noted that in the list of “Elders Reappointed for a Second 
Term”, Br. Henry Ngera’s name appeared twice. This was noted for correction.

3. Sr. Doreen Busolo, CITAM Valley Road, observed that her name was missing in the list of New 
Elders for Notification. The correction was noted. 

4. Sis. Josephine Djirackor, CITAM Woodley, noted that there were two lists of Elders Re-appointed 
for a 2nd Term.  One with a list of 3 members and the other with 17 members.  She pointed out 
the need to confirm which of the two lists was correct. This was noted for correction.



20

ANNUAL GENERAL 
MEETING

2019

5. Sr. Mary Obade, CITAM Kisumu, commented that on the List of EldersRe-appointed for a 2nd 
Term, the name of Rose Juma should not appear. This would be verified and correction made as 
appropriate.

6. Br. Zack Lewa, CITAM Athi River, on the List of New Elders Elected for Notification, noted that 
Rachael Kioko’s name was missing. This was noted for correction.

The Secretary moved the motion to adopt the minutes after corrections. Pst. Martin Mbandu, CITAM 
Embakasi, proposed, seconded by Pst. Patrick Kuchio, CITAM Missions.

AGM 5/4/2018: Matters Arising from AGM 2017 Minutes 

1. AGM 6/4/2017 Confirmation of the Minutes of the Annual General Meeting held on April 23rd, 
2016: Br. Eric Gitau, CITAM Buruburu, noted that no action had been taken on his suggestion 
that prayer and fasting at the beginning of the year be extended from 7 to 40 days. He stated that 
this is in line with “strengthening” the stakes. 

 Action: CITAM went through 40 days of prayer and fasting season early in the year and 
experienced God’s visitation both as a ministry and at individual levels.

2. AGM 6/4/2017 Confirmation of Minutes of the Annual General Meeting held on April 23rd, 2016:  
Br. Martin Oloo, CITAM Ngong, suggested as per the financial report on Arkville Properties, 
that CITAM should take advantage of the provision [revised Company’s Act] and own Arkville 
Properties Limited 100%.  

 Action: This matter would be discussed by the Deacon Board.

3. AGM 7/4/2017 Matters Arising: 

a. Br. Philip M’Mwirichia, CITAM Buruburu, sought to know the progress of improving the outlook 
of the Buruburu Senior School. 

Action: A face-lift for the school was scheduled for 2017.

b. Sr. Jane Asila, CITAM Valley Road, requested that in future, a report of Hope FM should be 
included in the Chairman’s report. She further proposed that the issues facing Buruburu 
Senior School be addressed by the Board of Management (BOM). 

 Action: The Chairman explained that the full report of Hope FM was in the AGM report. The issue  
concerning the Senior School, though not an AGM matter, was noted and would be looked into. 

4. AGM 8/4/2017 Chairman’s Report

a. The Chairman informed members that a Special General Meeting (SGM) would be held in July, 
2017. During the said SGM, the proposals being made touching on the constitution would 
be presented. The SGM would provide a forum for a full discussion of the Board’s proposals 
on restructuring the governance systems and structures. Thereafter the revised Constitution 
would be filed with the Registrar of Societies. 

 Action: The SGM was held on 8th July 2017. The constitution was reviewed in line with 
motions approved by members and filed with the registrar of societies and is available on the 
CITAM website.
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b. Sr. Pauline Mwangi, CITAM Buruburu, commended CITAM for starting CITAM church online 
and enquired about ownership. 

 Action: CITAM church online is fully owned by CITAM.

AGM 6/4/2018: Confirmation of Minutes of the Special General Meeting (SGM) 
held on 8th July 2017.  

The Secretary invited Sr. Catherine Lengewa to read through the minutes of the SGM and the following 
corrections were made:

1. Minute SGM 1/7/2017: Pst. Josphat Kimacia, CITAM Thika Town, corrected the fact that he was 
from CITAM Thika Town and not CITAM Thika Road.

2. Minute SGM 1/7/2017:  Br. Donald Odera, CITAM Valley Road, corrected the word “loyalty” to 
instead read “royalty”.

3. Minute SGM 5/7/2017 under motion 1, Br. Martin Oloo, CITAM Ngong, observed that the change 
of the vision and the core values was not necessitated by the change of the strategic plan (SP) but 
rather, it was to help accommodate growth beyond the life of the SP. He further expressed concern 
that the minutes did not seem to capture all the discussions around this motion. Sr. Mary Arivitsa 
and Sr. Kidisti Emnetu, both of CITAM Valley Road, supported his opinion. 

 Response: The Chairman advised members to state what in their opinion was discussed and not 
recorded. 

4. Minute SGM 5/7/2017: In regard to motion 4, Br. Martin Oloo, CITAM Ngong, reiterated that the 
motion passed, in his view, was not the motion that was presented to the members.  

 Response: The Secretary maintained that the discussion as captured under motion 4, and the 
motion moved to maintain the current status office of the Deputy Bishop, reflected what was passed 
by Members.

The Secretary moved a motion to adopt the minutes after corrections. The minutes were proposed for 
confirmation by Br. Dennis Cheruiyot, CITAM Woodley, and seconded by Pst. Charles Obara, CITAM 
Valley Road.

The following matter arose from the SGM 2017 Minutes. 

a. Minute SGM 6/4/2017 Br. Phillip M’Mwirichia of CITAM Buruburu noted with deep concern, 
of a new unprecedented development; closure of the Senior School. He requested that the 
decision be receded. 

 Response:  His concerns were noted and he was further advised that the Board had thoroughly 
deliberated on the matter before making the decision to close the school.

AGM 7/4/2018: The Chairman’s Report

1. The Chairman read his report titled, “Enlarge your tents…Strengthen your Stakes”.  The 
Chairman’s full report is annexed hereto as Appendix C. 
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2. Excerpts from the Chairman’s Report 

a. Corporate Prayer: The year 2017 had commenced with a time of prayer and fasting with 
intercession for the ministry, the nation and for our individual lives. This culminated in a solemn 
assembly.

b. Church Planting:  Three new assemblies namely CITAM Clay city, CITAM Nyeri and CITAM 
Meru were planted in 2017.

c. Capacity Building in Governance: In recognition of the need to enhance corporate 
governance, CITAM Leadership Summit (CLS), comprising of the Council of Elders, the 
Deacon Board and the Senior Pastors together with senior management were taken through a 
five-day training on governance. 

d. CITAM Kadolta Resort: The CITAM Kadolta Resort was opened for business at the end 
of the year 2017, with new facilities and expanded services. Members were encouraged to 
market and use the facility. 

e.  Amended Constitution: The constitution was amended following proposals adopted at 
the Special General Meeting, and was thereafter registered with the Registrar of Societies.  
The revised constitution is available on the CITAM website. Given challenges faced in raising 
quorum at the SGM, members were urged to take AGM meetings seriously, as this is the 
supreme governance organ of CITAM.

f. Forging Ahead: The year 2018 he noted, was full of hope, guided by the theme, ‘Positioned 
for Impact’. He urged all to trust God for opportunities to impact individual lives, the 
marketplace, the church and the Nation.

3. Adoption of Chairman’s report

The Chairman’s report was proposed for adoption by Pst. Stanley Amukoa and seconded by Sr. 
Miriam Nzyuko, both of CITAM Valley Road.

4. Discussion of the Chairman’s Report

a. Sis Helen Muga, CITAM Valley Road, observed that the Bishop’s report did not capture any 
plans for expansion of CITAM ministry in Kisumu. 

 Response:  The Chairman responded that CITAM is guided by the 10-year Strategic Plan 
(2016-2025) which sets out priority areas of ministry expansion.  He further noted that CITAM 
continues to receive invitations to start assemblies in many different areas.  Additionally, he 
informed the meeting that the Missions office was mobilizing resources to support Church 
planting ventures.

b. Pst. John Wesley Nguuh, CITAM Clay City, thanked the Chairman for his able leadership and 
requested that highlights of what CITAM was doing at National level to influence governance 
be included in future reports of the Chairman.

c. Br. James Masinde, CITAM Kisumu, appreciated the work done by the Bishop and further 
commended the Chair for his message, “The Challenge of Living in Dichotomy” which was 
broadcast nationally and helped bring healing to the nation during the politically charged 
season in 2017.



23

20
19CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM) 

AGM REPORT AND FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS ABRIDGED VERSION

AGM 8/4/2018: Consideration of Statement of Accounts

1. The Secretary invited the treasurer Br. Apollo Apamo, CITAM Valley Road, to present the 2017 
audited financial statements.  Brother Apollo invited the Chief Executive Officer of Kimani Kerrets 
Company (KKCO), Mr Isaiah Kimani to address members.

2. KKCO East Africa stated that in their opinion, the financial statements presented fairly, and in all 
material aspects, the financial position of CITAM, as at December 31, 2017. He also confirmed 
that CITAM’s books of accounts were maintained in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. The 2017 Audited Financial Statements are hereto annexed as Appendix D.

3. The Treasurer presented his report, which is annexed hereto as Appendix E

4. Discussions on Treasurer’s Report

a. Sr. Sophie Muturi, CITAM Valley Road, sought clarification on why the ministry spent so much 
money on computers. 

 Response: The treasurer explained that this was due to the fact that the computer software used 
was quite expensive. 

b. Br. Donald Odera, CITAM Valley Road, commended CITAM members for their generous giving 
despite the challenging times. He also applauded leadership for ensuring that the finance report 
was well compiled. Further, he commended use of CITAM Outfitters to supply uniform to all 
CITAM schools. 

 Response: The treasurer informed members that besides CITAM outfitters, the Board was 
looking to strengthen all business units to generate more revenue which would be used to 
support the work of the ministry. 

c. Sr. Mary Arivitsa, CITAM Valley Road, sought to know if legal issues were considered before 
closure of CITAM Buruburu Senior School. 

 Response: The treasurer assured members that due process was followed and that the decision 
involved extensive consultations between the Board, teachers, parents and the Ministry of 
Education. 

d. Sr. Joan Godia, CITAM Karen, enquired if CITAM would consider investing in a benevolence fund 
for its members. 

 Response: The Chairman informed members that CITAM already has a benevolence fund at 
assembly level to support members who have specific needs, per laid down guidelines.

e. Br. James Masinde, CITAM Kisumu, recommended a comprehensive study of our Business Units 
be carried out with the aim of helping them to flourish. 

 Response: The treasurer informed members that the Deacon Board had revamped the 
committee looking into issues of all business units.

f. Sr. Eunice Nzioka, CITAM Athi-river, sought to know if the country’s political impact in 2017 could 
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have hindered some ministry activities and enquired if these activities could be carried out in 
2018. She further noted that staff were a key resources and that there was need to review staff 
salaries. 

 Response: The treasurer responded that when it comes to budget allocation, the Board focuses 
on activities for a given year and that staff expenses are always a priority. 

AGM 8/4/2018: Appointment of External Auditors

The Treasurer informed members that the auditors had expressed a desire to continue auditing CITAM 
Accounts. He then moved a motion to appoint KKCO as auditors for another year. Sr. Margaret Muthwii, 
PAC University, proposed and Sr. Grace Muthungu, CITAM Athi River, seconded. 

AGM 9/4/2018: CITAM Governance Update
The Secretary presented an update arising from the SGM meeting of 8th July, 2017.  The full report is 
attached as appendix F.

AGM 10/4/2018: Ratification of Deacon Board Members

The Chairman presented the three deacons elected by the Annual Delegates Conference (ADC) for 
ratification as follows:

New Deacon Board Members

NO NAME ASSEMBLY

1. Catherine Wahome CITAM Valley Road

2. Christine Ojera CITAM Nakuru

3. George Asoyo CITAM Kisumu

Deacon Re-elected for a second term

NO NAME ASSEMBLY

1. Paul Mbugua CITAM Thika Road

Continuing Deacons 

NO NAME ASSEMBLY
1. Selvaraj Chelliah CITAM Parklands

2. Faith Thuita CITAM Woodley

3. Nelson Kuria CITAM Karen 

4. Elizabeth Oyombe CITAM Buruburu
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5. Catherine Lengewa CITAM Valley Road

6. Martin Kiogora CITAM Ngong

7. Caroline Wambugu CITAM Athi River

Retiring Deacons

NO NAME ASSEMBLY
1. Apollo Apamo CITAM Valley Road

2. Mourice Ouma CITAM Kisumu

3. Reuben Maritim CITAM Nakuru

The motion to ratify the new deacons was proposed by Sr. Esther Wambulwa  and seconded by Sr. Esther 
Nyasio, both of CITAM Valley Road.

AGM 11/4/2018: Notification of Elders

The Chairman notified members of the appointment of elders at the ADC as follows: 

New Elders for notification

NO NAME ASSEMBLY
1. Andre Kariithi Athi River

2. Catherine Rewa Athi River

3. Boniface Musembi Parklands

4. Alex Kimani Thika Road

5. Paul Antipa Thika Road

6. Elizabeth Njoroge Thika Road

7. Zaverio Kinyua Thika Road

8. John Njuguna Valley Road

9. Terry Onyango Valley Road

10. Jane Otieno Kisumu

The motion to adopt the notification of the elders was proposed by Br. Musa Obuba, CITAM Valley Road 
and seconded by Br. J.B. Murimi, CITAM Woodley.
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Elders Re-Appointed for a Second Term

NO NAME ASSEMBLY
1. David Noti Kombe Buruburu

2. Mercellina M’Mwirichia Buruburu
3. George O. Kiche Buruburu

4. Fred Wasonga Buruburu

5. Hellen Koech Karen

6. Geoffrey Kihara Karen

7. Michael Wambugu Karen

8. Jasper Oduor Karen

9. Ellah Okinda Karen

10. Dan Ochieng Kisumu

11. John Mwendwa Parklands

12. Geoffrey G. Mutonga Thika Road

13. Evariste Munyabarane Valley Road

14. Donald Odera Valley Road

15. Winfred Nyanchoga Woodley

16. James Maina Woodley

17. Kenneth Macharia Woodley

The motion to adopt the elders nominated for a second term was proposed by Pst. Kwame Rubadiri, 
CITAM Head Office, and seconded by Br. Joseph Chengo, CITAM Karen.

Elders who have stepped down

NO NAME ASSEMBLY
1. Agnes Asenwa Mungai Thika Road

2. Francis Kahihu Thika Road

Retiring Elders

NO NAME ASSEMBLY
1. Margaret Oloo Valley Road

2. Frank Kamthunzi Valley Road

3. Jose Huha Thika Road

4. Moses Gicua Kirega Thika Road

5. Daniel K. Mutunga Thika Road
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6. Henry Kiara Thika Road

7. Jones Kitili Thika Road

8. Emma Omulokoli Thika Road

AGM 12/4/2018: Appointment of Trustees

The Chairman introduced the 2 members proposed for appointment as trustee as follows:

NO NAME ASSEMBLY
1. David Tanki CITAM Ngong

2. Habill Nyasio CITAM Valley Road

Br. Martin Oloo, CITAM Ngong proposed and Sr. Margaret Muthwii, PAC University seconded the 
appointments n.

Br. Joseph Chengo, CITAM Karen, prayed for all the incoming and the continuing deacons, elders and the 
trustees. 

AGM 13/4/2018: Any Other Business 

The Church Secretary read through the AOBs received seven days before the AGM as required by the 
constitution. She thereafter requested the chairman to respond. 

1. “I think it is not biblically sound to ask those about to teach Safari [lessons] to make a covenant in 
which they promise to give generously starting with a tithe (10%). I believe the Bible does not expect 
us to make the payment of tithes as a pre-condition for appointing people into church leadership 
positions. I believe salvation, maturity in the word, and exemplary walk should be the top criteria. 
Please confirm with the Leaders’ handout given to CITAM Karen in which the Safari leaders were 
asked to make this covenant and sign their names.”

 Response: The Chairman clarified that the intended meaning was that leaders ought to be good 
examples to the congregants and be role models in all aspects of Christian living and practice.

2. “The current teaching of Safari in CITAM churches can be great when taught by a good teacher, 
but can be boring when we go through basic topics that ought to be taught in special classes 
(e.g., for young believers). The worst part about this system is that it does not give opportunities 
for non-believers who come to church to be presented with the gospel and a clear invitation to 
give their lives to Christ. Safari is a great idea, but I do not believe teaching it in church to an 
audience of about 300 people is the way to go. Secondly, this format sometimes ends up with 
the church being so focused on the actual lesson of the day (which in my opinion is too much 
content) that we overlook what may be going on in the nation. Last week, for example, the issue 
of polygamy was the main issue going on in the nation and it was not discussed because we 
were set on completing the assigned teaching in the Safari.”

 Response:  The Chairman said that the effectiveness of Safari lesson totally depends on the 
presenter. Secondly, he clarified that there wasn’t sufficient grounds to discontinue the program 
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or offer it in cohorts, since a majority of members preferred to go through it together when it was 
started. He went on to explain that after the first cycle, Safari would be offered in cohorts.  

 Thirdly, the Chairman informed members that, Safari does not prevent the altar calls from being 
made as alluded, and neither does it prevent current affairs of interest from being addressed.  
This is because Safari is only done during specific blocks of time in a given year. Therefore, other 
issues of concern can be comfortably addressed when Safari is not running.

3. “I’m a registered member of CITAM and fellowship at CITAM Athi River.

 I hereby give notice to the Secretary of my intention to move the Agenda [a motion] that CITAM 
builds a hospital within or near Nairobi (near one of its assemblies, e.g. Athi River) to offer Christian 
based medical services to [her] members at fairly affordable rates and other citizens at normal 
realistic rates.”

 Response: The Chairman said that the time for running a hospital would come in the fullness of 
time, while noting that hospitals were expensive to run.

4. “Following the 2018 theme ‘positioned for impact, ’ what is CITAM doing to help and assist the less 
fortunate children in our society? Do we have a fund that pays school fees, mentors and follows up 
these children? If not, can we start one? CITAM Kiserian sits on 56 acres [of land]. Are we making 
full use of the land? What are the plans?”

 Response: The Chairman clarified that the Kiserian Children’s Centre was addressing the issue of 
the less fortunate children. He further stated that the missions’ department had set aside a school 
fees scholarship fund.

 He  also informed members that the land in Kiserian was fully utilised with a school, a resort, a 
children’s centre, and tailoring workshop (CITAM Outfitters) among other ventures currently running 
or envisioned for the foreseeable future.

AGM 14/4/2018: Launch of CITAM Church Online

The Chairman invited Pst. Patrick Kuchio, CITAM Missions to give a highlight on CITAM Church 
online. Thereafter, the Chairman prayed and launched CITAM Church online.
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AGM 15/4/2018: Closure

The meeting closed at 5:34pm with a word of prayer by Sr. Caroline Wambugu, CITAM Athi 
River.

CHAIR PERSON

SECRETARY  

 

TREASURER  

                   Signature                                                     Date 

                   Signature                                                     Date 

                   Signature                                                     Date 
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Appendix B: List Of Attendance
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Elisabeth Elliot

If you believe in a 
God who controls 
the big things, you 
have to believe in 

a God who controls 
the little things. It 

is we, of course, to 
whom things look 

‘little’ or ‘big’
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REGISTRATION

CITAM is registered under the Kenyan Societies Act under Certificate Number 8870.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

DEACON BOARD MEMBERS 

- 
- 
- 
- 
- 
- 
- 

RESULTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

        Date Secretary

The results for the year are set out on page 16.

The auditors, KKCO East Africa, Certified Public Accountants, have expressed their willingness to continue
in office.

By Order of the Deacon Board

_________________________________

Mr. Maurice Ouma
Eng. Reuben Maritim

Joined on 29/04/2018

Term ended on 29/04/2018

Term ended on 29/04/2018
Term ended on 29/04/2018

Mrs. Catherine Wahome
Mr. Martin Munyu

Joined on 29/04/2018
Joined on 29/04/2018

Changes during the year were as follows:-

Mr. George Asoyo Joined on 29/04/2018
Mrs. Christine Ojera

Mr. Apollo Apamo

The principal activity of the Ministry is to know God and make Him known through evangelism and
discipleship.

The names of the members who served during the year and upto the date of this report are set out on
page 1.

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Report of the Deacon Board

The Deacon Board has pleasure in presenting its report together with the audited financial statements for
the year ended 31st December 2018.
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INCOME

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Millions Millions Millions Millions Millions

Assemblies Income (Note 4) 1,539 1,482 1,223 1,016 836
Projects Income (Note 5) 304 253 218 222 200
Outreach ministries Income (Note 6) 112 94 52 57 50
Together we can do more (Note 7) 9 15 30 50 96
Totals 1,964 1,844 1,523 1,346 1,182

2017 - 
2018

Assemblies Income 4%
Projects Income 20%
Outreach ministries Income 19%
Together we can do more -41%
Totals 7%

Year on Year percentage growth in Income

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Report of the Treasurer

2018 Financial Performance Overview 

Below is the analysis of total income for the last five (5) years.

Although total assemblies’ income increased marginally, most assemblies recorded a decline in
income in 2018 compared to 2017.

Tithes and offerings remained the highest contributor to the total income of the ministry at 70%.
Projects/business units and Outreach ministries recorded a remarkable growth in income in the year
under review compared to year 2017. This was attributable to increased enrolment in our schools
hence creating higher demand to the catering and Transport units of the ministry.

Total income in the year 2018 stood at Kshs 1.96 billion up from Kshs 1.84billion representing a 7%
growth in income. This was majorly due to; income from the new church plants, increased giving in
the fairly new assemblies, improved performance of business units and outreach ministries
specifically the Hope Media.

The ministry recorded an improvement in financial performance in the year 2018 against a backdrop
of several economic challenges experienced during the year in the country. 
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CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Report of the Treasurer…./(Contd.)
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2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Millions Millions Millions Millions Millions

Assemblies Expenses (Note 4) 1,017 811 758 607 586
Projects Expenses (Note 5) 285 248 212 178 208
Outreach ministries Expenses (Note 6) 166 153 97 84 92
Together we can do more (Note 7) 0.08 0.33 0.9 4.4 1.71
Totals 1,469 1,212 1,068 873 887

2017 - 
2018

Assemblies Expenses 25%
Projects Expenses 15%
Outreach ministries Expenses 9%
Together we can do more -75%
Totals 21%

Year on Year percentage growth in Expenses

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Report of the Treasurer…./(Contd.)

Expenditure 

Total expenditure for the year 2018 stood at Kshs 1.47 billion up from Kshs 1.21billion reported in
2017 representing an increase in expenditure of Kshs 256 million (21%). All expense categories
increased during the year mainly driven by new assemblies, annual salary reviews to all CITAM
staff as approved during the 2018 AGM and finance costs of new finance covenants.

Below is an analysis of the total expenses for the last five (5) years
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2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Millions Millions Millions Millions Millions

Staff Expenses 592 521 469 223 272
Administrative expenses 540 398 343 201 146
Ministry expenses 336 294 256 183 169
Capital Expenditure 312 543 327 208 254

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Number of staff 500 491 418 357 333
Number of Assemblies 21 19 18 15 12
Number of Schools 8 8 8 8 6
Number of other units 17 16 12 9 10
Number of Outreach ministries 9 9 4 4 3

Expenditure category 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Staff Expenses 30% 28% 31% 29% 41%
Administrative expenses 28% 22% 23% 24% 25%
Ministry expenses 17% 16% 17% 14% 16%
Capital Expenditure 16% 29% 21% 15% 21%

Total expenses expressed as a percentage of the total income for the last five years.

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Report of the Treasurer…./(Contd.)

Administrative expenses stood at Kshs 540million up from Kshs 398million in 2017 representing a
36% increase. This was majorly due to additional finance charges due to new loans, additional
rental charges for rented premises for the new Assemblies, increased general infrastructure costs
for renovating the leased premises for our new Assemblies, Increased contractual costs, Annual
convention costs, increased Leadership retreats to review the ministry’s operating policies,
provision for bad debts and increased motor vehicle running costs due to additional school buses
and Assemblies pool vehicles. The provision for bad debts was made in compliance with IFRS 9.

Ministry expenses stood at Kshs 336million up from Kshs 294million in 2017 representing 14%
increase. This was due to; ministry costs for the new Assemblies, increased cost for printing Safari
books, increased children church expenses (DVBS) and Missions and outreach expenses. 

Below is the analysis of Expenses by Category for last five (5) year s

Expenditure category

Staff, Assemblies and unit numbers for the last five (5) years

Staff expenses stood at Kshs 592million up from Kshs 521million reported in 2017 representing
14% increase. This was majorly attributed to staff salary adjustments which consequently
increases other staff benefits, Staff promotions and engagement in the new assemblies,
Severance pay/exgratia paid to the disengaged staff of Buruburu senior school and staff
mediation training.
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Total comprehensive income

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Report of the Treasurer…./(Contd.)

Capital expenditure decreased by 42% to Kshs 313million down from Kshs 543million. This was
due to completion of CITAM Ngong sanctuary which was the major project in 2017. In 2018,
except the completion works of CITAM Kisumu sanctuary, no major project was undertaken hence
the drop in capital expenditure.

Surplus before Capital Expenditure stood at Kshs 495.7million down from Kshs 631.3million in
2017 representing a decrease of 21%. This was due to the increase in operating expenses for the
ministry.

Net surplus after capital expenditure was Kshs 183million up from Kshs 88.2million reported in
2017. This represents 108% increase in net surplus. This is attributable to the significant reduction
in capital expenditure (42%) in the year 2018 compared to the expenditure in 2017.

Below is the analysis of surplus before capital expenditure for the past 5 years

Capital expenditure
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Conclusion

_____________________________
Church Treasurer

Below is the analysis of total assets for the last five (5) years

On behalf of the Deacon Board, we sincerely thank and glorify God for His faithfulness in
propagating the work of the ministry in a year that was economically tough.

We also express our sincere gratitude to all CITAM congregants and partners for their faithful
giving and embracing the vision and mission of the ministry. May the Lord richly reward you for
your sacrifice in terms of resources, time and service in His vineyard.

May the Lord God Almighty bless and increase each one of you in a very special way and we look
forward to yet another year of God’s faithfulness even as we celebrate 60 years of our existence.

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Report of the Treasurer…./(Contd.)
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Annual Delegates Conference (ADC)

Deacon Board

The Deacon Board overall responsibility is to provide leadership in administrative, business and
legal matters, ensure effective governance and fiduciary oversight of the ministry. The Deacon
Board is also responsible for establishment of the ministry’s strategy and policies, monitoring and
reviewing the performance of the ministry in their areas of mandate and ensuring that the
internal controls are adequate and strong to safe guard the ministry’s resources.

Christ Is The Answer Ministries (CITAM) continues to strengthen and uphold high standards of
Corporate Governance in order to direct, manage and control the affairs of the ministry.
Governance structures have been set with a primary objective of enhancing prosperity,
sustainability and corporate accountability with the ultimate objective of realising the ministry’s
long-term values and vision. CITAM also strives to ensure that all its affairs are done with
commitment, integrity, transparency and accountability which are not only the principles of good
governance but also form part of the core values of the ministry. CITAM has a broad and detailed
governance structure which is well stipulated in the Church constitution.

The responsibility of daily operations is delegated to a management team appointed by the
board. A clear segregation of duties between the board and management is always maintained.
The Deacon board makes all operations policy decisions while management implements the
decision of the board. 

The Deacon Board meets at least quarterly in a year but additional meetings may be held on need
basis. This is aimed at receiving relevant information in order to make timely decisions affecting
the ministry.

Annual General Meeting (AGM)

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Statement of Corporate Governance 

Corporate Governance is the system of rules, practices and processes which direct and control an
organisation. The aim of Good Corporate Governance is to customise and refine these processes
to ensure commitment to the stakeholders in managing the institution in a transparent manner to
maximize long-term value of the institution and all its other partners. It integrates all the
participants involved in a process.

CITAM holds an Annual General Meeting once every year. The purpose of an AGM is to give
members a report on the church activities and finances for the previous year, to allow time for
members to ask questions, and to elect members the church governing body for the coming year.
The AGM also appoints the auditor for the following year.

This is a forum where every CITAM branch is represented and all matters relating to church and
branches are discussed extensively for Board’s action. The responsibility is to provide general
guidance of the vision and mission of the church. Election of Deacon Board members takes place
during the ADC as well as admission of the elected Elders.
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A total of eight (8) Deacon Board meetings were held during the year.

Remarks 
Bishop Dr. David Oginde 8 Chairman
Bishop Kennedy Kimiywe 8 Vice-chairman
Dr. Faith Thuita 8 Church Secretary
Mrs. Caroline Wambugu 8 Church Treasurer
Mr. Apollo Apamo 2 Term ended on 29.04.2018
Mr. Mourice Ouma 1 Term ended on 29.04.2018
Eng. Reuben Maritim 0 Term ended on 29.04.2018
Prof. Paul Mbugua 8 Member
Ms. Elizabeth Oyombe 7 Member
Dr. Martin Kiogora 8 Member
Dr. Catherine Lengewa 8 Member
Mr. Selvaraj Chelliah 7 Member
Mr. Nelson Kuria 6 Member
Mr. George Asoyo 6 Joined on 29.04.2018
Mrs. Christine Ojera 6 Joined on 29.04.2018
Mrs. Catherine Wahome 6 Joined on 29.04.2018
Rev. Elias Githuka 8 Ex-officio

Delegation of Authority

The Deacon Board has eight (9) Sub committees with delegated authorities. The committees
assist the Board is discharging its responsibilities. The committees have clear defined roles and
terms of reference. The sub-committees meet regularly to deliberate on issues that fall under
their mandate.

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Statement of Corporate Governance…./(Contd.) 

Composition of the Deacon Board

The Deacon Board comprises of the Presiding Bishop and the Deputy Bishop as the chairman
and deputy chairman respectively, the Director For Administration, not more than 12 elected
members and 3 co-opted members where necessary, for smooth and efficient running of the
church business.

The Board members have a wide range of skills and experience and each bring independent
judgement and considerable knowledge which may be useful and helpful in the board
discussions.

Members No. of meetings attended 

The table below shows the number of Deacon Board meetings held during the year and the
attendance of individual members.
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Committees Chaired by:
1 Finance committee 6 Deacon Caroline Wambugu
2 Audit & Risk Management committee 6 Deacon Prof. Paul Mbugua
3 Human Resources Committee 8 Deacon Dr. Faith Thuita
4 ICT committee 5 Deacon Selvaraj Chelliah
5 Media Board/Caretaker Committee 6 Deacon Dr. Catherine Lengewa
6 Business Management Committee 11 Deacon Nelson Kuria
7 Building Committee 7 Deacon Dr. Martin Kiogora
8 Legal Committee 6 Deacon Martin Munyu
9 CITAM Children Centre Committee 8 Deacon Christine Ojera

Elder

No. of 
meetings 
attended Comment

1 Bishop Dr. David Oginde 8 Chairman
2 Bishop Kennedy Kimiywe 9 Vice chairman
3 Elder Emma Omulokoli 2 Term ended on 29.04.2018
4 Elder Margaret Oloo 2 Term ended on 29.04.2018
5 Elder John Migiro 3 Elder
6 Elder Dennis Cheruiyot 10 Council Secretary
7 Elder Geoffrey Kihara 10 Elder
8 Elder Pius Cokumu 10 Elder
9 Elder Marcellina M’mwirichia        9 Elder
10 Elder Teresia Biu 7 Joined on 29.04.2018
11 Elder Don Odera 7 Joined on 29.04.2018
12 Rev. Elias Githuka 6 Ex-officio

The Table below shows the Elders’ Council meetings held during the year and the attendance of
individual Elders.

The Elders’ Council meet at least four (4) times a year but the Bishop may convene more
meetings on need basis. A total of ten (10) meetings were held during the year.

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Statement of Corporate Governance…./(Contd.) 

The table below shows the Deacon Board Sub Committees and the respective chairperson
during the year.

Elders' Council

The Elders council takes the responsibility for safeguarding the vision and mission of the church
and oversees all spiritual matters of the church. They perform all the duties as detailed in the
constitution.

Number of 
members
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Board of Management (BOM)

Compliance statement

Internal controls

Local Advisory Committee

Every Assembly has an advisory committee to support the management and coordination of the
affairs of the assembly.

Every school has board of management which supports the management and coordination of the
affairs of the schools.

It is the responsibility of the Deacon Board to ensure that a system of internal control that
provides reasonable assurance of effective and efficient operations in the ministry is maintained.
The ministry has internal control policies and procedures which the Deacon Board has reviewed
and are satisfied that appropriate procedures are in place. The business of the church is therefore
conducted within this framework and is monitored by the Internal Audit Department and given
oversight by the Board Audit Committee.

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Statement of Corporate Governance…./(Contd.) 

Trustees

All land, buildings and other immovable property, all investments and securities acquired by the
CITAM are vested in a Trust of the church.

CITAM ministry is guided by the Registrar of Societies Act, 2012 and all other laws and regulations
relevant to its operations.
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i)    
      
      
    
ii)   

iii)  
      

Designing, implementing and maintaining such internal control as they determine necessary
to enable the presentation of financial statements that are free from material mistatements,
whether due to fraud or error:

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Statement of  Deacon Board  Responsibilities

for the year ended 31st December 2018

The Deacon Board is required to prepare financial statements for each financial year that give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Ministry as at the end of the financial year and of
its surplus or deficit for that year. It also requires the Board to ensure that the Ministry keeps
proper accounting records that: (a) show and explain the transactions of the Ministry (b) disclose,
with reasonable accuracy, the financial position of the Ministry; and (c) enable the Deacon Board
to ensure that every financial statement required to be prepared complies with the requirements
of the Kenyan Societies Act.

The Deacon Board accepts responsibility for the preparation and presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard and in the manner
required by the Kenyan Societies Act. They also accept responsibility for:

Chairman Treasurer

Selecting suitable accounting policies and applying them consistently; and 

Making accounting estimates and judgements that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Having made an assesment of the Ministry's liability to continue as a going concern, the Deacon
Board is not aware of any material uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast
doubt upon the Ministry's ability to continue as a going concern.

The Deacon Board acknowledges that the independent audit of the financial statements does not
relieve them of their responsibilities.

Approved by the Deacon Board  on ____________________ and signed on its behalf by:-

________________________ ___________________________
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Responsibilities of the Deacon Board for the financial statements

The Deacon Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standard and for such internal control as the Deacon Board
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Basis for opinion

Report of the Independent Auditors

to the members of Christ Is The Answer Ministries

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

We have audited the financial statements of Christ Is The Answer Ministries (CITAM) set out on pages 16 to
36, which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018, and the statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in funds and statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Christ
Is The Answer Ministries as at December 31, 2018, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Ministry in accordance with the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (Parts A and B) (IESBA
Code) and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in
Kenya. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code and in
accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in Kenya. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other information

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information;
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

The Deacon Board is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Report of
the Deacon Board, which we obtained prior to the date of this report. Other information does not include the
financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.

Opinion
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●

●

●

●

●

Date

Nairobi, Kenya

______________________ _______________________________
KKCO East Africa
Certified Public Accountants of Kenya

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Report of the Independent Auditors

to the members of Christ Is The Answer Ministries

The engagement partner responsible for the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is CPA Nimrod
Kurgat (P. 1905).

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional judgement
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Ministry’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the Deacon Board.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Deacon Board use of the going concern basis of accounting and
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Ministry’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Ministry to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Deacon Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

In preparing the financial statements, the Deacon Board is responsible for assessing the Ministry’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Deacon Board either intend to liquidate the Ministry or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
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2018 2017
ASSEMBLIES INCOME Note Kshs Kshs

Tithes and offerings     1,364,713,757     1,334,021,499 
Ministries and departments          44,138,562          56,197,633 
Fundraising and donations          93,850,012          58,665,788 
Other income             3,919,948             1,376,906 
Interest income             3,701,984             6,146,003 
Sale of books          19,720,941          14,605,984 
Rental income             9,408,101          11,002,727 

Total assemblies income 4     1,539,453,305     1,482,016,540 

ASSEMBLIES EXPENSES

Staff costs        326,178,959        296,006,165 
Administration costs        355,625,323        233,607,051 
Ministries costs        335,443,177        281,065,295 

Total assemblies expenditure 4     1,017,247,459        810,678,511 

SURPLUS BEFORE PROJECTS AND
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE        522,205,846        671,338,029 

Projects net income 5          19,064,759             4,471,378 
Special outreach activities net expenses 6         (54,215,973)         (59,001,047)
Together We Can do More-net income 7             8,682,702          14,525,605 

        (26,468,512)         (40,004,064)

SURPLUS BEFORE CAPITAL
EXPENDITURE        495,737,334        631,333,965 

Capital expenditure 8      (312,696,951)      (543,162,327)

SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR Kshs        183,040,383          88,171,638 

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Statement of Comprehensive Income 

for the year ended 31st December 2018
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2018 2017

ASSETS Note Kshs Kshs

Non-current Assets
Property and equipment 9       5,630,285,190      4,962,619,615 
Biological assets 10                  432,000                            -   
Work in progress 11            44,975,825         499,770,083 
Prepaid operating lease rentals 12       5,636,073,727      5,748,238,343 
Intangible assets 13            11,989,067           14,034,158 
Long term investments 14                  100,000             2,100,000 
Due from related parties 15          807,610,246         742,670,210 

   12,131,466,055    11,969,432,409 
Current Assets
Inventories 16            20,410,161           15,142,395 
Trade and other receivables 17            71,377,163         154,915,813 
Fixed deposits 18 (a)            25,183,499           23,635,928 
Cash and bank balances 18 (b)            78,947,456           91,374,616 

         195,918,279         285,068,752 

TOTAL ASSETS Kshs    12,327,384,334    12,254,501,161 

FUNDS AND LIABILITIES

Funds
Capital fund    11,323,958,809    11,224,662,199 
General fund          403,309,279         257,751,143 
Reserve fund            62,195,589           37,408,722 
Designated fund 19          103,226,274         106,743,354 

   11,892,689,951    11,626,565,418 
LONG TERM  LIABILITIES

Borrowings 20          255,070,875         328,150,454 

CURRENT  LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 21            96,464,346         220,996,099 
Borrowings 20            83,159,162           78,789,190 

         179,623,508         299,785,289 

TOTAL FUNDS AND LIABILITIES Kshs    12,327,384,334    12,254,501,161 

___________________________
                 Chairman               Treasurer 

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Statement of Financial Position

as at 31st December 2018

______________________________

The financial statements on pages 16 to 36 were approved by the Deacon Board on
__________________________ and signed on its behalf by:-



18

ANNUAL GENERAL 
MEETING

2019

-18-

 Capital  General  Reserve   Designated 
 Fund  Fund  Fund  Fund Note 19)  Total 
 Kshs  Kshs  Kshs  Kshs  Kshs 

At 1 January 2017        2,624,559,506        345,114,933      43,370,003           (6,180,777)       3,006,863,665 
Fixed assets additions (Note 9)           712,987,562                             -                         -                             -          712,987,562 
Revaluation surplus - freehold land & buildings (Note 9)        2,672,480,385                             -                         -                             -       2,672,480,385 
Revaluation surplus - leasehold property (Note 12)        5,392,962,781                             -                         -                             -       5,392,962,781 
Depreciation (Note 9)         (101,698,794)                             -                         -                             -         (101,698,794)
Amortization - Leasehold property (Note 12)         (114,318,903)                             -                         -                             -         (114,318,903)
Amortization - Intangible assets (Note 13)              (5,734,864)                             -                         -                             -             (5,734,864)
Amortization adjustment on revaluation (Note 12)             43,424,526                             -                         -                             -             43,424,526 
Receipts during the year                                -                             -                         -           59,638,452             59,638,452 
Payments during the year                                -                             -                         -       (126,613,180)         (126,613,180)
Reserve fund utilisation during the year                                -          37,527,979    (37,527,979)                             -                               - 
Capital expenditure funded by term loan                                -      (135,000,000)                         -                             -         (135,000,000)
10% tithe allocation                                -                             -                         -        133,402,150          133,402,150 
Transfers to reserve fund                                -         (31,566,698)      31,566,698 
Transfers to designated fund                                -         (46,496,709)           46,496,709 
Surplus for the year                                -          88,171,638                         -                             -             88,171,638 

AT 31 DECEMBER 2017                                            Kshs     11,224,662,199        257,751,143      37,408,722        106,743,354     11,626,565,418 

At 1 January 2018     11,224,662,199        257,751,143      37,408,722        106,743,354     11,626,565,418 
Fixed assets additions (Note 9)           364,446,530                             -                         -                             -          364,446,530 
Depreciation (Note 9)         (142,798,894)                             -                         -                             -         (142,798,894)
Amortization - Leasehold property (Note 12)         (117,940,327)                             -                         -                             -         (117,940,327)
Amortization - Intangible assets (Note 13)              (4,842,699)                             -                         -                             -             (4,842,699)
Biological assets (Note 10)                   432,000                             -                         -                             -                  432,000 
Receipts during the year                                -                           -                         -             39,491,960             39,491,960 
Payments during the year                                -                           -                         -         (179,480,416)         (179,480,416)
10% tithe allocation                                -                             -                         -        136,471,376          136,471,376 
Capital expenditure funded by term loan                                -         (12,695,380)                         -                             -           (12,695,380)
Transfers to reserve fund                                -         (24,786,867)      24,786,867                             -                               - 
Surplus for the year                                -        183,040,383                         -                             -          183,040,383 

AT 31 DECEMBER 2018                                          Kshs     11,323,958,809        403,309,279      62,195,589        103,226,274     11,892,689,951 
 

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Statement of Changes in Funds 

 as at 31st December 2018
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2018 2017
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATIONS Kshs Kshs

Surplus for the year      183,040,383 88,171,638 

Adjustments for:
Capital expenditure 312,696,951 543,162,327

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Increase in inventories         (5,267,766)         (8,277,324)
Increase in trade and other receivables        83,538,650      (27,303,490)
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables    (124,531,753)        70,154,711 

Cash flows from operating activities      449,476,465      665,907,862 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property and equipment    (220,297,373)    (291,217,496)
Additions to work in progress      (95,886,639)    (369,241,345)
Additions to operating lease         (5,775,711)         (7,557,246)
Purchase of intangible assets (2,797,608)      (10,146,240)
Biological assets (432,000)                         -   
Redemption of treasury bonds 2,000,000                         -   
Increase due to related parties      (64,940,036)    (102,759,978)

Cash flows used in investing activities    (388,129,367)    (780,922,305)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Movement in borrowings      (68,709,607)        61,270,409 
Movement in designated funds         (3,517,080)        66,427,422 

Cash flows (used in)/from financing activities      (72,226,687)      127,697,831 

NET (DECREASE)/ INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS      (10,879,589) 12,683,388 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 115,010,544      102,327,156 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF THE YEAR (Note 18)               Kshs 104,130,955 115,010,544

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Statement of Cash Flows 

for the year ended 31st December 2018
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1.0 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.1  Basis of preparation

1.2

i) New and revised standards that have been issued and are now effective

●

●

-

The financial statements are prepared in compliance with International Financial Reporting
Standards under the historical cost convention, and are presented in the functional currency,
Kenya Shillings (Kshs).

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Notes to the Financial Statements

for the year ended 31st December 2018

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are
set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

IFRS 9 requires all recognised financial assets to be subsequently measured at amortised
cost or fair value (through profit or loss or through other comprehensive income),
depending on their classification by reference to the business model within which they
are held and their contractual cash  flow characteristics.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting
Standards requires the use of estimates and assumptions. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the accounting policies adopted by the
Ministry. Although such estimates and assumptions are based on the Deacons’ board best
knowledge of the information available, actual results may differ from those estimates.

New and revised financial reporting standards

The following new and revised standards have become effective for the first time in the
financial year beginning 1st January 2018:

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (issued in May 2014) - The new
standard, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, replaces IAS
11, IAS 18 and their interpretations (SIC-31 and IFRIC 13, 15 and 18). It establishes a
single and comprehensive framework for revenue recognition to apply consistently
across transactions, industries and capital markets, with a core principle (based on a five -
step model to be applied to all contracts with customers), enhanced disclosures, and
new or improved guidance.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (issued in July 2014) – This standard will replace IAS 39 (and
all the previous versions of IFRS 9) effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2018. It contains requirements for the classification and measurement of
financial assets and financial liabilities, impairment, hedge accounting and
derecognition:
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-

-

-

-

●

●

1.3 Revenue recognition

Other income earned is recognized as it accrues.

Income is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
ministry and the revenue can be reliably measured. Income earned by the Ministry is recognized 
on the following basis:

Tithes, offerings and gifts from members are recognized when received.

School fees income represents amount invoiced to the students during the year. Hope FM sales
comprise the invoiced value net of value Added Tax (VAT) where necessary.

The Deacons have considered the amendments that have now become effective. Based on their
assessment of the potential impact of application of the above, they do not expect that there
will be a significant impact on the ministry's financial statements.

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

for the year ended 31st December 2018

Notes to the Financial Statements

IFRS 16 Leases (issued in January 2016) - The new standard, effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2019, introduces a new lessee accounting model, and will
require a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than
12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee will be required to
recognise a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying leased asset and
a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments.

For the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 introduces an “expected credit loss” model
based on the concept of providing for expected losses at inception of a contract; it will no
longer be necessary for there to be objective evidence of impairment before a credit loss
is recognised.

For financial liabilities, the most significant effect of IFRS 9 relates to cases where the fair
value option is taken: the amount of change in fair value of a financial liability designated
as at fair value through profit or loss that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of
that liability is recognised in other comprehensive income (rather than in profit or loss),
unless this creates an accounting  mismatch.

Amendments to IAS 7 titled Disclosure Initiative (issued in January 2016) – The
amendments, applicable to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 201, require
enhanced disclosure concerning changes in liabilities arising from financing activities.

The derecognition provisions are carried over almost unchanged from IAS 39.

For hedge accounting, IFRS 9 introduces a substantial overhaul allowing financial
statements to better reflect how risk management activities are undertaken when
hedging financial and non-financial risk exposures.
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1.4 Short-term investments

1.5 Trade and other receivables

1.6 Inventories

1.7 Financial liabilities

1.8 Trade and other payables

1.9 Translation of foreign currencies

1.10 Provisions

Receivables are recognized at original invoice amount less an allowance for any
uncollectible amounts. Specific provision is made for all known doubtful debts. Bad debts
are written off when all reasonable steps to recover them have been taken without success.

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at the transaction price (including transaction
costs). Trade payables are obligations on the basis of normal credit terms and do not bear
interest. Interest bearing liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Transactions in foreign currencies during the year are converted into the functional
currency, Kenya Shillings(functional currency) at rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities at the balance sheet dates which are expressed in foreign
currencies are translated into Kenya Shillings at exchange rates ruling at that date. The
resulting differences from conversion and translation are dealt within the statement of
comprehensive income in the year in which they arise.

A provision is recognized in the statement of financial position when the Ministry has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past event and it is more likely than
not that an outflow of economic benefit will be required to settle the obligation and it can
be reliably estimated.

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Notes to the Financial Statements

for the year ended 31st December 2018

Short term investments are recognized at the transaction price and subsequently measured
at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income. Fair value is determined using the quoted bid price at the reporting date.

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 

Trade and other payables are stated at their nominal value.
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1.11 Property and equipment

Freehold Land Nil
Buildings Nil
Boreholes Nil 
Motor vehicles 25%
Computers & IT Equipment                                                                    30%
Equipment 15%
Furniture & Fittings 15%
Tents 15%

1.12

1.13

1.14

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Notes to the Financial Statements

for the year ended 31st December 2018…. / (Contd)

On disposal, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item sold is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Intangible assets

Property and equipment purchased from general fund are fully expensed in the statement of
comprehensive income in the year of purchase. Those purchased from designated funds are
debited to the relevant funds. For purposes of control, they are held in property and
equipment and capital fund accounts, so that any change in the assets can be traced.
Depreciation of the assets is reflected in both the property and equipment and capital funds
accounts. The effect of this is to reduce the value of the fixed assets and capital fund as a
result of diminution due to use.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis at annual rates to write down the cost of
each asset to its residual value over its estimated useful life on the following basis:

If there is an indication that there has been a significant change in depreciation rate, useful life
or residual value of an asset, the depreciation of that asset is revised prospectively to reflect
the new expectations.

Computer software license costs and computer software are initially recognised at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Costs that are directly
attributable to the production of identifiable computer software products controlled by CITAM
are recognised as intangible assets. Amortisation is calculated using the straight line method to
write down the cost of each license or item of software to its residual value over its estimated
useful life at an annual rate of 30%.

Payments to acquire leasehold interest in land are treated as prepaid operating lease rentals
and are amortized over the period of the lease.

Borrowing costs are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the period which
they are incurred. However, borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets are capitalized as part of the cost of that asset.

Borrowing costs

Prepaid operating lease rentals
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1.15 Cash and cash equivalents

1.16 Post employment benefit obligation

1.17 Interest bearing loans and borrowings

1.18 Contingent liabilities

1.19 Long term investments

1.20 Related party balances

1.21 Capital fund

A capital fund is created to represent the funds invested in property and equipment. Items
of property and equipment purchased are credited in the capital fund while the
corresponding debit is taken to the general fund. Depreciation and amortisation are
debited to the capital fund and credited to the accumulated depreciation of the respective
asset.

Related party transactions with the Ministry's related entities primarily comprise of loans
and expenses paid on behalf. These are recorded at cost. 

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Notes to the Financial Statements

All borrowings are initially recognized at cost, being the fair value of the consideration
received net of issue costs associated with the borrowings.

Contingent liabilities arise if there is possible obligation; or present obligation that may,
but probably will not, require an outflow of economic resources; or there is a present
obligation, but there is no reliable method of estimating the monetary value of the
obligation.

Investments in treasury bonds are recorded at market value.

for the year ended 31st December 2018…. / (Contd)

The Ministry operates a defined contribution pension scheme for its staff. The assets of
the pension scheme are administered by Britam American Insurance Company Ltd. The
scheme is funded by contributions from both the employees and the Ministry. The
Ministry’s contributions to the scheme are charged to the statement of comprehensive
income in the year to which they relate.

The Ministry and its employees also contribute to a statutory defined scheme, the National
Social Security Fund (NSSF). Contributions are determined by local statute and the
ministry’s contributions are charged to the statement of comprehensive income in the year
in which they relates.

Cash and Cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, cash in hand, cash held in paybills and
short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. For the purpose of
the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash and cash equivalents
as defined above.
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1.22 General fund

1.23 Reserve fund

1.24 Designated fund

1.25 Taxation

1.26

1.27 Comparatives

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in
presentation in the current year. 

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Notes to the Financial Statements

for the year ended 31st December 2018…. / (Contd)

Funds held for specially defined purposes are classified as designated funds.

No tax provisions are made in these financial statements. The Ministry is in the process of
renewing its income tax exemption certificate as per Kenya Revenue Authority (KRA)
regulations. 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-
measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income. Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and
cash and cash equivalents are presented in the statement of comprehensive income within
‘finance income or costs’. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the
statement of comprehensive income.

This represents amounts which are expendable at the discretion of CITAM in furtherance of 
its objectives. Such funds may be held in order to finance working capital or capital
investment.

5% of the surplus before capital expenditure is transferred from the general fund to the
reserve fund.

Foreign exchange gain/loss



26

ANNUAL GENERAL 
MEETING

2019

-26-

2.0 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

i) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

Property and equipment

ii)                  Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies

a)
b) The classification of financial assets and leases.
c)                  Whether assets are impaired.

3.0 FINANCIAL RISKS MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

a) Market risk

i) Foreign exchange risk

The Ministry is not exposed to any significant foreign exchange risk.

ii) Price risk

The Ministry does not hold investments that would be subject to price risk.

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Notes to the Financial Statements

for the year ended 31st December 2018…. / (Contd)

The Ministry’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks. These include market risk,
credit risk, liquidity risk and the effects of changes in foreign currency rates. The Ministry’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of changes in operating
environment and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects of such risks on its financial
performance by setting acceptable levels of risks, but the Ministry does not hedge any risk.

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rate, equity prices, and
foreign exchange rates will affect the Ministry’s income or value of its holdings of financial
instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk
exposures within acceptable parameters. 

In the process of applying the Ministry's accounting policies, management has made
judgements in determining:-

Provisions and contingencies

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience
and other factors, including experience of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

Critical estimates are made by the Deacon Board in determining depreciation rates for
property and equipment.  The rates used are as set out in Note 1.11 on page 14.
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b)  Credit risk

2018 2017
Kshs Kshs

Cash and bank balances 104,130,955 115,010,544 
Trade and other receivables 71,377,163    154,915,813 

Kshs 175,508,118 269,926,357

c)

2018 2017
Kshs Kshs

338,230,037 406,939,644 
     96,464,346 220,996,099 

Total financial liabilities Kshs    434,694,383 627,935,743 

Trade and other payables 

Liquidity risk

The responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Deacon Board, who have built
an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Ministry's
short, medium and long term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Ministry
manages liquidity risk by maintaining enough required funds for its operation through
continuous monitoring of forecast and actual cash flows.

The table below provides a contractual analysis of the Ministry's financial liabilities :-

Finance liabilities

Borrowings

The amount that best represents the Ministry’s maximum exposure to credit risk at 31st
December 2018 is made up as follows:-

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks, as well as trade
and other receivables. The Ministry does not have any significant concentrations of credit
risk. The Ministry assesses the credit quality of each customer, taking into account its
financial position, past experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on
internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the board. The utilisation of
credit limits is regularly monitored.

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Notes to the Financial Statements

for the year ended 31st December 2018…. / (Contd)
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d)

e) Operational risk 

●

●
●
●
●

●
●
●

Review of compliance with Ministry's standards is done on an ongoing basis.

Development of contingency plans.

Adherence to ethical and business standard.

The Ministry's objective is to manage operational risks so as to balance the avoidance of
financial losses and damage to the Ministry's reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to
avoid any control procedures that restrict initiative and creativity in the church.

The primary responsibility of the development and implementation of controls to address
operational risk is assigned to the Deacon Board.

Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements.
Documentation of control and procedures.
Requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced by the institution, and
adequacy of controls and procedures to address the risks identified.

Training and professional development of its personnel and

This responsibility is supported by the development of overall Ministry's standards for the
management of operational risks in the following areas:-

Requirements for appropriate segregation of duties including the independent
authorization and approval of transactions.
Requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring transactions.

Operational risk is the risk of indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with
the Ministry’s processes, personnel, technology, infrastructure and external factors other than
credit and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and if
generally acceptable standard.

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Notes to the Financial Statements

for the year ended 31st December 2018…. / (Contd)

Exchange risk

The Ministry holds some of its bank balances in foreign currency. The fluctuations in currency
exchange rates result in changes in the value of the monetary assets denominated in foreign
currency hence exposing the Ministry to the risk of incurring exchange loss. The monetary
assets held in foreign currency are closely monitored to ensure that they are not materially
affected by adverse foreign currency fluctuations. There are no other foreign currencies
denominated financial  assets or liabilities.
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2018 2017
Surplus/ Surplus/ 

4.0 ASSEMBLIES INCOME AND Income Expenditure (Deficit) Income Expenditure (Deficit)
EXPENDITURE Kshs Kshs Kshs Kshs Kshs Kshs

Head Office             88,427,162       283,515,215     (195,088,053)          73,431,177    228,271,303     (154,840,126)
CITAM Valley Road          418,480,227       116,073,420      302,406,807        426,751,496    107,991,661      318,759,835 
CITAM Woodley          194,392,814         60,108,212      134,284,602        177,068,876       53,584,605      123,484,271 
CITAM Karen          161,819,023         62,575,267        99,243,756        166,824,680       59,700,874      107,123,806 
CITAM Parklands             67,269,900         43,958,091        23,311,809          73,356,266       38,285,061        35,071,205 
CITAM Kisumu             35,671,568         33,140,739           2,530,829          36,395,094       28,361,664           8,033,430 
CITAM Ngong             81,562,217         52,726,680        28,835,537          80,739,451       42,654,169        38,085,282 
CITAM Buruburu          108,691,032         55,855,564        52,835,468        115,878,440       49,523,920        66,354,520 
CITAM Thika Road          109,891,607         50,837,958        59,053,649        119,215,397       45,720,617        73,494,780 
CITAM Nakuru             35,109,356         25,842,752           9,266,604          33,487,644       24,676,393           8,811,251 
CITAM Eldoret             23,210,627         26,769,203         (3,558,576)          19,104,035       26,148,470         (7,044,435)
CITAM Athi River             64,222,447         35,651,447        28,571,000          64,360,060       26,862,328        37,497,732 
CITAM Kapsabet               4,164,697         11,672,534         (7,507,837)            3,469,157         8,215,075         (4,745,918)
CITAM Thika Town             47,074,850         36,878,107        10,196,743          24,649,615       21,405,969           3,243,646 
CITAM Embakasi             45,019,298         40,499,513           4,519,785          38,908,213       27,901,660        11,006,553 
CITAM Rongai             27,976,883         27,120,445              856,438          19,677,339       19,616,266                61,073 
CITAM Clay City             18,159,381         23,236,678         (5,077,297)            8,699,600         1,758,476           6,941,124 
CITAM Nyeri               5,010,057         18,475,912       (13,465,855)                           -                         -                           -   
CITAM Meru               3,300,159         12,309,722         (9,009,563)                           -                         -                           -   

Kshs       1,539,453,305    1,017,247,459      522,205,846     1,482,016,540    810,678,511      671,338,029 

Surplus/  Surplus/  
5.0 PROJECTS INCOME AND  Income  Expenditure  (Deficit)  Income  Expenditure  (Deficit) 

EXPENDITURE  Kshs  Kshs  Kshs  Kshs  Kshs  Kshs 

CITAM Schools Woodley             80,805,827         68,385,090        12,420,737          72,193,011       63,208,303           8,984,708 
CITAM Schools Buruburu Primary             31,932,166         38,112,236         (6,180,070)          27,871,893       35,221,563         (7,349,670)
CITAM Schools Kisumu             20,603,905         27,201,709         (6,597,804)          21,710,431       24,676,350         (2,965,919)
CITAM Schools Ngong             23,030,128         16,850,592           6,179,536          13,311,923         8,975,523           4,336,400 
CITAM Schools Nakuru               6,879,091            8,130,011         (1,250,920)            4,729,750         4,941,449            (211,699)
CITAM Schools Athi River               5,063,274            6,120,698         (1,057,424)            2,456,030         3,244,793            (788,763)
CITAM Schools Eldoret               5,033,878            7,033,331         (1,999,453)            4,242,380         5,129,401            (887,021)
CITAM Schools Woodley Transport             10,008,686            7,074,002           2,934,684            7,510,906         5,846,053           1,664,853 
CITAM Schools Buruburu Transport               8,936,880            6,128,908           2,807,972            7,089,825         6,002,134           1,087,691 
CITAM Schools Kisumu Transport               3,256,402            3,989,338            (732,936)            2,770,580         3,247,745            (477,165)
CITAM Schools Ngong Transport               5,920,700            5,055,856              864,844            2,311,350         1,799,782              511,568 
Woodley Catering             16,446,455            8,786,713           7,659,742          13,818,468         7,510,326           6,308,142 
Buruburu Catering             10,398,214            7,728,240           2,669,974          10,005,103         7,574,353           2,430,750 
Valley Road Catering             13,264,076            5,804,543           7,459,533            8,371,745         5,074,745           3,297,000 
Kisumu Catering               5,114,090            4,411,841              702,249            4,422,731         3,361,445           1,061,286 
Ngong Catering               7,313,623            2,468,581           4,845,042            3,552,101         1,254,483           2,297,618 
Parklands Catering               9,148,953            4,916,293           4,232,660            4,248,057         3,542,444              705,613 
Nakuru Catering               3,244,980            1,490,544           1,754,436            1,238,131            715,362              522,769 
Creative department             14,530,820         10,258,863           4,271,957            8,448,267         8,289,226              159,041 
Carpentry and Tailoring                  179,495                 15,599              163,896            1,725,970            110,324           1,615,646 
CITAM Kadolta Resort             18,833,451         16,484,842           2,348,609          10,991,883       10,812,895              178,988 

         299,945,094       256,447,830        43,497,264        233,020,535    210,538,699        22,481,836 
CITAM Schools Buruburu High (i)               4,195,130         28,627,635       (24,432,505)          20,034,840       38,045,298       (18,010,458)

Kshs          304,140,224       285,075,465        19,064,759        253,055,375    248,583,997           4,471,378 

(i) Operations at Buruburu High School were discontinued in FY2018.

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Notes to the Financial Statements

for the year ended 31st December 2018…/(Contd)
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2018 2017
Surplus/ Surplus/ 

6.0 SPECIAL OUTREACH INCOME AND Income Expenditure (Deficit) Income Expenditure (Deficit)
EXPENDITURE  Kshs  Kshs  Kshs  Kshs  Kshs Kshs

Hope FM       61,320,131       78,263,914    (16,943,783)    48,347,668           68,815,415      (20,467,747)
Hope TV       12,926,774       21,699,937       (8,773,163)      3,893,240           14,745,182      (10,851,942)
CITAM Children Centre Kiserian         2,618,614       25,403,091    (22,784,477)      2,457,460           27,223,305      (24,765,845)
Children Centre Kiserian School            919,684         8,017,749       (7,098,065)      1,066,785             5,505,902        (4,439,117)
CITAM Outfitters         2,541,408         1,559,514            981,894          318,981                115,917             203,064 
Heavens Gate & Hells Flames       21,939,145       21,939,145                       -      30,249,660           28,847,373          1,402,287 
ERDO Project         8,344,421         8,344,421                       -        6,727,257             6,727,257                        -   
Hope Recording Studio         1,447,159         1,045,539            401,620      1,050,000             1,131,747             (81,747)

Kshs    112,057,336    166,273,309    (54,215,973)    94,111,051        153,112,098     (59,001,047)

6.1 Breakdown of the outreach expenses

Staff costs       80,743,192 64,381,927         
Administrative costs       84,983,887 75,798,326         
Ministry expenses            546,230 12,931,845         

Kshs    166,273,309  Kshs 153,112,098       

2018 2017
7.0 TOGETHER WE CAN DO MORE (TWM)  Kshs Kshs

Income             8,764,370 14,857,660
Expenditure                 (81,668)           (332,055)

NET INCOME Kshs             8,682,702       14,525,605 

2018 2017
8.0 CAPITAL EXPENDITURE  Kshs  Kshs 

Land and buildings 40,856,114 158,225,690 
Prepaid operating lease rentals 5,775,711 7,557,246 
Motor vehicles 54,457,620 24,354,296 
Construction work in progress 96,089,639 369,241,345 
Furniture and equipment 115,710,071 131,789,887 
Tents 38,060,850 3,111,559 
Computers 10,698,917 8,561,299 
Computer software/LAN 2,797,608 10,146,240 
Biological assets 432,000                        -   

364,878,530 712,987,562 
Less capital expenditure funded by term loan (12,695,380) (135,000,000)
Less capital expenditure funded by CITAM missions fund (31,986,199) (22,148,838)
Less donated capital expenditure (7,500,000)      (12,676,397)

Kshs 312,696,951 543,162,327 

for the year ended 31st December 2018…/(Contd)

Notes to the Financial Statements

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)
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9.0 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT Freehold Motor Furniture &
Land Buildings Boreholes Vehicles Fittings Equipment Computers Tents Total

COST OR VALUATION Kshs Kshs Kshs Kshs Kshs Kshs Kshs Kshs Kshs

At 1 January 2017       167,794,799    1,502,489,816   12,067,290    129,400,770    135,914,558    445,682,683   36,597,100      61,287,465    2,491,234,481 
Additions       156,924,750            1,300,940                     -        24,354,296      38,549,200      93,240,687      8,561,299        3,111,559       326,042,731 
Transfers from WIP                           -            85,547,160                     -                          -                          -                          -                       -                          -            85,547,160 
Revaluation    1,762,205,201       910,275,184                     -                          -                          -                          -                       -                          -      2,672,480,385 

   2,086,924,750    2,499,613,100   12,067,290    153,755,066    174,463,758    538,923,370   45,158,399      64,399,024    5,575,304,757 
DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 2017                           -                             -                       -        87,898,581      84,795,859    297,171,473   21,349,896      19,770,539       510,986,348 
Charge for the year                           -                             -                       -        17,245,840      19,528,501      46,319,288      8,945,310        9,659,855       101,698,794 

                          -                             -                       -      105,144,421    104,324,360    343,490,761   30,295,206      29,430,394       612,685,142 
NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 DECEMBER 2017  Kshs    2,086,924,750    2,499,613,100   12,067,290      48,610,645      70,139,398    195,432,609   14,863,193      34,968,630    4,962,619,615 

COST OR VALUATION
At 1 January 2018    2,086,924,750    2,499,613,100   12,067,290    153,755,066    174,463,758    538,923,370   45,158,399      64,399,024    5,575,304,757 
Additions                           -            40,856,114                     -        54,457,620      18,286,399      97,423,672   10,698,917      38,060,850       259,783,572 
Transfers from work in progress                           -         550,680,897                     -                          -                          -                          -                       -                          -         550,680,897 
Disposals                           -                             -                       -         (8,826,932)                        -                          -                       -                          -            (8,826,932)

   2,086,924,750    3,091,150,111   12,067,290    199,385,754    192,750,157    636,347,042   55,857,316    102,459,874    6,376,942,294 
DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 2018                           -                             -                       -      105,144,421    104,324,360    343,490,761   30,295,206      29,430,394       612,685,142 
Charge for the year                           -                             -                       -        36,165,329      20,203,164      60,072,783   10,988,638      15,368,980       142,798,894 
Disposals                           -                             -                       -         (8,826,932)                        -                          -                       -                          -            (8,826,932)

                          -                             -                       -      132,482,818    124,527,524    403,563,544   41,283,844      44,799,374       746,657,104 
NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 DECEMBER 2018  Kshs    2,086,924,750    3,091,150,111   12,067,290      66,902,936      68,222,633    232,783,498   14,573,472      57,660,500    5,630,285,190 

10.0

Cattle, goats, sheep and rabbits have been classified as biological assets
Sheep, Goats 

Cattle & Rabbits 2018
Kshs Kshs Kshs

Carrying amount at 31st December  Kshs         405,000              27,000            432,000 

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Notes to the Financial Statements

for the year ended 31st December 2018…./(Contd)

(i) The land and buildings were revalued  in FY2017 on an open market value basis by  Capital Valuers Ltd, a professional firm of registered valuers.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS
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Balance at Balance at
01.01.2018 Additions Expenses Transfers 31.12.2018

11.0 WORK IN PROGRESS Kshs Kshs Kshs Kshs Kshs

CITAM Ngong    404,105,978      1,389,912                -        (405,495,890)                          -   
CITAM Nakuru                       -        1,385,843                -            (1,385,843)                          -   
CITAM Parklands                       -           750,625                -               (750,625)                          -   
CITAM Thika road                       -        2,807,669                -            (2,807,669)                          -   
CITAM Kadolta Resort      89,575,155   29,792,863                -        (119,368,018)                          -   
CITAM Valley Road            203,000      1,360,122   (203,000)          (1,360,122)                          -   
CITAM Kisumu                       -     39,271,312                -               (181,437)          39,089,875 
CITAM Buruburu        5,885,950                    -                  -                            -              5,885,950 
CITAM Karen                       -           140,000                -               (140,000)                          -   
CITAM Athi River                       -           177,059                -               (177,059)                          -   
CITAM Thika town                       -        2,970,715                -            (2,970,715)                          -   
CITAM Clay City                       -        5,184,094                -            (5,184,094)                          -   
CITAM Rongai                       -        4,000,649                -            (4,000,649)                          -   
CITAM Missions      6,858,776                -            (6,858,776)

Kshs    499,770,083   96,089,639   (203,000)      (550,680,897)         44,975,825 

The work in progess relates to the various projects under construction.

2018 2017
12.0 PREPAID OPERATING LEASE RENTALS Kshs Kshs

COST OR VALUATION
At 1 January    5,862,557,246       462,037,219 
Additions            5,775,711            7,557,246 
Revaluation (i)                          -      5,392,962,781 

   5,868,332,957    5,862,557,246 
AMORTIZATION
At 1 January       114,318,903          43,424,526 
Eliminated on revaluation                          -          (43,424,526)
Charge for the year       117,940,327       114,318,903 

      232,259,230       114,318,903 
NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 DECEMBER Kshs    5,636,073,727    5,748,238,343 

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Notes to the Financial Statements

for the year ended 31st December 2018…. / (Contd)

(i) Leasehold land was revalued in FY2017 on an open market value basis by Capital Valuers Ltd, a registered firm
of professional valuers.

Leasehold land is disclosed as prepaid operating lease rentals and carried at cost less amortization over the lease
period.
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2018 2017
13.0 INTANGIBLE ASSETS Kshs Kshs

COST 
At 1 January        72,146,478      62,000,238 
Additions          2,797,608      10,146,240 

       74,944,086      72,146,478 
AMORTIZATION
At 1 January        58,112,320      52,377,456 
Charge for the year          4,842,699        5,734,864 

       62,955,019      58,112,320 
NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 DECEMBER Kshs        11,989,067      14,034,158 

The intangible assets relate to computer software and wide area network.

2018 2017
14.0 LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS Kshs Kshs

            100,000            100,000 
Alex Tee Treasury Bonds                        -          2,000,000 

            100,000        2,100,000 

15.0 Kshs Kshs

     171,361,141    156,853,556 
     485,395,010    472,365,720 
     150,854,095    113,450,934 

     807,610,246    742,670,210 

15 (a) Pan Africa Christian University Kshs Kshs

At 1 January      156,853,556    137,631,049 
Additions during the year        14,507,585      19,222,507 

Kshs      171,361,141    156,853,556 

2018 2017
15 (b) Ark Properties and Investments Ltd Kshs Kshs

At 1 January      472,365,720    467,587,233 
Additions during the year        13,029,290        4,778,487 

     485,395,010    472,365,720 

1.1.2018 Income Expenditure 31.12.2018 2017
15 (c) CITAM International Assemblies Kshs Kshs Kshs Kshs Kshs

CITAM Romania Church     66,929,603 (7,372,371)        30,306,951        89,864,183      66,929,603 
CITAM USA Church     38,691,635 (14,493,669)      21,503,371        45,701,337      38,691,635 
CITAM Namibia Church       7,829,696 (1,771,786)          9,230,665        15,288,575        7,829,696 

Kshs   113,450,934    (23,637,826)    61,040,987      150,854,095    113,450,934 

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Notes to the Financial Statements

for the year ended 31st December 2018…. / (Contd)

This relates to balance of loans CITAM borrowed on behalf of Ark Properties and Investments Limited. CITAM owns 99.7%
directly through CITAM Trustees and 0.3% indirectly (through Ark Properties directors) of Ark Properties and Investments
Limited shareholding. 

CITAM has 60% interest in Pan Africa Christian University (PACU) and the above amounts are the funds contributed by CITAM
as at 31st December 2018.

Investment in shares - Ark Properties & Investments Limited 

Kshs

DUE FROM RELATED PARTIES 

Pan African Christian University (15a)
Ark Properties and Investments Limited (15b)
CITAM International Assemblies (15c)

Kshs

The Treasury bonds matured during the year.
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2018 2017
16.0 INVENTORIES Kshs Kshs

Safari books        10,875,274      11,477,156 
Consumables          9,534,887         3,665,239 

Kshs        20,410,161      15,142,395 

17.0 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES Kshs Kshs

School fees debtors        76,937,106      75,415,093 
CITAM Hope Media debtors        44,865,398      40,194,266 
Prepayments and deposits        45,797,405      38,264,256 
Staff debtors          7,354,331         8,599,117 
VAT receivable          4,034,383                       -   
Other receivables          5,542,070         3,367,611 

     184,530,693    165,840,343 
Provision for bad debts    (113,153,530)     (10,924,530)

Kshs        71,377,163    154,915,813 

18.0 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(a) Fixed deposit Kshs Kshs

Co-operative Bank of Kenya Ltd. 23,900,248 22,435,965
Stanbic Bank Ltd 1,283,251 1,199,963

Kshs 25,183,499      23,635,928 

(b) Cash and bank balances Kshs Kshs

Cash at bank        39,051,757      54,542,923 
Safaricom paybill account        38,956,534      35,716,034 
Cash in hand              939,165         1,115,659 

       78,947,456      91,374,616 

Total cash and cash equivalents Kshs      104,130,955    115,010,544 

Balance at Balance at
01.01.2018 Receipts Payments 31.12.2018

19.0 Kshs Kshs Kshs  Kshs 

       5,657,127            324,445                           -         5,981,572 
     26,730,805         5,829,385         (8,888,562)      23,671,628 
     27,117,521    136,471,376    (143,973,408)      19,615,489 
                       -         3,512,941                           -         3,512,941 

Other development funds      40,255,605      28,775,189       (26,484,120)      42,546,674 
Women's Ministry        1,079,148                         -                           -         1,079,148 
Caution fees        5,903,148         1,050,000            (134,326)         6,818,822 

Kshs    106,743,354    175,963,336    (179,480,416)    103,226,274 

Mission support fund - allocation
Text book fund

Mission support fund - donations

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Notes to the Financial Statements

for the year ended 31st December 2018…. / (Contd)

DESIGNATED FUNDS

Alexander Tee fund
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2018 2017
20.0 BORROWINGS  Kshs  Kshs 

Co-operative Bank of Kenya Ltd (i)    216,109,062    261,976,377 
Co-operative Bank Ltd - Ark Properties and Investments Ltd (i)    111,031,210    144,390,603 
NIC Bank - Bus financing (ii)      11,089,765            572,664 

Kshs    338,230,037    406,939,644 
Repayment analysis

Repayable after the next 12 months Kshs    255,070,875    328,150,454 

Repayable in the next 12 months Kshs      83,159,162       78,789,190 

2018 2017
21.0 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES Kshs Kshs

Trade payables    117,252,559    146,249,470 
Accounts payable and accruals         9,461,970       34,723,202 
Direct deposits      25,126,845       27,136,716 
Withholding tax         2,946,517         7,026,681 
VAT payable                       -              513,152 
Other payables         5,566,160         5,346,878 

   160,354,051    220,996,099 
Provision for creditors write back (63,889,705)                         -   

Kshs 96,464,346        220,996,099 

22.0 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS Kshs Kshs

Authorised and contracted Kshs      71,238,121       59,763,533 

2018 2017
23.0 SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR Kshs Kshs

   102,229,000       10,924,530 
        2,140,550         1,600,000 
     25,042,885       24,490,847 

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Notes to the Financial Statements

for the year ended 31st December 2018…. / (Contd)

The above are capital commitments authorised and contracted as at the balance sheet date but not
recognized in the financial statements.

The surplus for the year is arrived at after charging:-

Provision for bad and doubtful debts
Auditors' renumeration
Finance costs 

(i) The facilities at Co-operative Bank of Kenya Limited are repayable at an interest rate of 14% p.a.
Securities for the loan include existing legal charge over Kisumu municipality block LR No. 10/170, Karen
land block LR No. 12409/05 and Parklands land block LR No. 209/10810/5.

(ii) The facility with NIC Bank Limited is payable over the next three years at an interest rate of 13% p.a. The
bank borrowings are secured over the school buses financed by the borrowings.
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24.0 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

25.0 EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD 

26.0 CURRENCY

The financial statements are presented in Kenya shillings (Kshs).

The Ministry has pending litigations in court. However, the Ministry does not foresee a
major liability arising from the suits.

The Deacon Board is not aware of any matters arising after 31st December 2018 that would
significantly affect operations of the Ministry.

CHRIST IS THE ANSWER MINISTRIES (CITAM)

Notes to the Financial Statements

for the year ended 31st December 2018…. / (Contd)
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